

Community action for the environment

Small enough to care, big enough to make a difference





Contents

Executive summary	1
Introduction	3
Five ways our funding makes a difference	5
1. Helping people to save money and lower their carbon emissions	6
2. Reducing food, clothing and furniture waste	8
3. Nurturing knowledge and skills	10
4. A sense of connection: building belonging and community pride	12
5. Supporting individual and community wellbeing	14
Seven things we've learned about community action for	
the environment	16
1. Behaviour change comes one step at a time	16
2. Harness our desire to connect and feel we belong	19
3. Use the power of good example and keep demonstrating what's possible	21
4. Make it tangible: measure and show the difference you are making	24
5. Create a network of advocates and enthusiasts	27
6. Take active steps to be diverse and inclusive	29
7. Be honest about what is and isn't effective	31
Conclusion	33
References	35

Executive summary

The National Lottery
Community Fund has been
a significant funder of
environmental projects for
25 years. This paper explores
learning from our most recent
funding, with a focus on
practical tips on how to spark,
mobilise and sustain local
community action.



There are well established links between the environment and physical and mental wellbeing - increased physical activity, reduced air pollution, connection with nature, growing and eating fresh food, and making homes warmer and healthier. We also show that taking part in environmental action can create a range of tangible personal benefits - from saving money, reducing waste and gaining new knowledge and skills, to a greater sense of belonging and connection, and of course, reducing CO₂ emissions.

We recognise that communities face challenges and barriers to tackling a huge global problem through local action, but show that 'think global, act local' still has meaning and resonance. People and communities can and do make a difference through their actions and choices.

Key learning from our funding emphasises the need to start small, making environmental action easy and attractive – in particular by linking it to people's individual beliefs and values. Appealing to people's sense of community can be more effective than an explicit appeal to the climate emergency. And working at local or hyperlocal level can create more sustainable networks where people keep up their commitment and action because they feel a shared sense of ownership with, and accountability to, their neighbours.

Role modelling new behaviours and finding engaging ways to show the difference being made is another key part of keeping commitment up. And practical solutions that connect residents to experts and specialists have helped empower communities to make more informed choices – from choosing the right kinds of renewable energy sources to establishing growing schemes and orchards to reduce food miles and waste.

A diverse and inclusive movement helps tackle the widespread assumption that environmental action is disproportionately white and middle class. It's essential to recognise the contribution that many people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities make by actively living green lives. Practical adjustments like paying a living wage and ensuring that outdoor venues are fully accessible to people with disabilities are important ways to make the movement more inclusive.

We also recognise the need to be realistic and pragmatic about what does and doesn't work. Testing and adapting in response to new insights and knowledge is key to maximising communities' contributions. And it's important to recognise and acknowledge the limits of what can be achieved without larger scale infrastructure or systemic investment and change.

We conclude that work at individual and community level can be both empowering and big enough to make a difference. Community action can deliver real impact in terms of CO₂, waste reduction and reuse and redistribution of food, furniture, clothing, toys and material. And in doing so it generates important wider benefits: improving health and wellbeing, increasing community pride and supporting skills, training and jobs.



Introduction

An unexpected positive of the COVID-19 lockdown has been our new appreciation of nature and the environment. From birdsong to traffic-free streets and plane-free skies - many of us have cherished a glimpse of a less polluted planet. By the end of April 2020, global CO₂ emissions had decreased by around 17% from 2019 levels, with almost half of this reduction as a result of reduced use of transport¹ but there are real, and realistic, fears that with the easing of lockdown, things will quickly revert to 'normal' and this progress will be lost.

The pandemic has changed our world radically. As we publish this paper, we don't know what shape our future will take, but it's clear that there's an appetite for change. An April 2020 YouGov poll on behalf of the RSA's Food, Farming and Countryside Commission (FFCC) and The Food Foundation, found that just 9% of people want to go back to the way things were before lockdown.² Concern for the environment is at record levels with a number of recent polls showing the highest recorded levels of concern about climate change,³ air pollution, plastic waste and the loss of plant and animal species.⁴

The National Lottery Act identified the environment as one of the four good causes to benefit from the sale of tickets⁵ and The National Lottery Community Fund went on to become a major funder of environmental projects ever since. We produced this paper before the pandemic, as a look back at what we've learned from our funding that has supported projects with a direct focus on the environment, as well as many others that embed care for the planet into their primary work on a multitude of other issues.

Primarily, we wanted to identify how grantholders have harnessed the desire to do more to protect the environment, and how they have energised their communities to make and maintain changes that help us live more sustainably. From large-scale programmes with an explicit focus on sustainability and building resilience to climate change, to a multitude of small, grassroots projects, we support a hugely varied range of grantholders. In the five years since April 2015, we've awarded over £350 million through more than 4,800 grants.

The learning outlined here now feels more pertinent than ever, as we ask what community involvement means for environmental issues. We outline how our funding has supported communities to mobilise and act and look specifically at how grantholders have helped engage and motivate people. We also consider what drives changes in behaviour, and how we can we support and sustain these shifts; how this work can do more to include the whole community, given ongoing criticism that the movement is disproportionately white and middle class;6 and how everybody can build sustainable practice into their work, whatever their main interest or focus.

It's intended for people who are setting up, commissioning or delivering environmental work. Those who are looking to make their existing work more sustainable will also find inspiration and practical suggestions here.

We've drawn from interviews with grantholders and our own staff, as well as evaluations and research from across the UK. We share insights and stories, looking at the conditions that supported and enabled grantholders' work, to see what we can learn from them and how we can harness concern for the environment and translate that into practical and tangible action.

A flavour of our environmental funding across the UK

England

Communities Living Sustainably was a £12 million, five-year programme that worked with 12 communities across England to tackle the social, economic and environmental impact of climate change.⁷ It engaged over 60,000 people and saved more than 500,000 tonnes of carbon.

Wales

In Wales, the £8.8 million **Create Your Space** programme supports communities to conserve and enhance the natural environment. One of the funded projects, **Woodland Routes to Wellbeing**, has redeveloped the **laundry gardens at Tredegar House** as a community hub, with growing beds, a fresh food bag scheme and shop, sensory and tranquil gardens for people with visual impairments or mental health problems, and a play area for children.⁸

Scotland

In Scotland, we've supported several projects enabling small, isolated communities to become self-sufficient through renewable energy. A £600,000 grant for wind turbines, solar panels and energy storage helped to bring 24 hour power to Fair Isle for the first time. The energy in the Isle of Canna's award-winning scheme is 98% renewable, while the Foula Community Electricity Scheme has given the island a reliable power supply through wind energy.

Northern Ireland

Energy Efficient Venues invested £6.9 million to improve community venues in Northern Ireland. 403 projects made long-term improvements to their financial and environmental sustainability. For example, outdoor pursuit centre Share Discovery Village improved its insulation and installed LED lighting and solar panels, saving £8,500 a year on electricity bills.

Across the UK

Our Bright Future is a £33 million programme, led by The Wildlife Trusts. 31 youth-led projects support young people to, "take ownership of what they deserve: a healthy planet, a thriving greener economy, and a bright future." So far, it has worked with more than 115,000 young people. More than 6,200 have gained environmental qualifications and 758 have gone on to work in the sector.

The **Climate Action Fund** commits £100 million over ten years, enabling people and communities to take the lead in tackling the climate emergency. It will make its first awards in summer 2020 and support activity that is known to make the biggest difference to climate change, including sustainable energy and transport, consumption and waste, food and land use. By linking local action to national change, it will ensure that community voices are at the heart of the work.

Five ways our funding makes a difference

"Climate change is happening now and to all of us. No country or community is immune [...] And, as is always the case, the poor and vulnerable are the first to suffer and the worst hit."

António Guterres, United Nations Secretary-General

Many campaigners and scientists agree that we need more urgency to tackle climate change. The data is stark: UN scientists warn that an increase of more than 1.5° centigrade in global temperatures would have severe consequences, 11 yet they're currently expected to rise by 3-5°.12 The UK Government Committee on Climate Change (CCC) has said that, even if emissions are reduced to zero, "our climate will continue to warm in the short-term, and sea levels will continue to rise for centuries." 13

The UK has made some progress, reducing emissions by more than 42% since 1990, but this excludes emissions from international aviation, shipping and imports.¹⁴ In 2008, four fifths of the UK's electricity came from fossil fuels; over a decade that has fallen to less than half.¹⁵

But achieving these aspirations requires more ongoing and meaningful change by all of us - households produce three quarters of the UK's carbon emissions. The CCC acknowledges that, "some of the difficult decisions [...] will only be possible if people are engaged in a societal effort to reach net-zero emissions and understand the choices and constraints."

Most of us recognise we have a role to play. The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) tracks public attitudes to the environment and in March 2019, 86% of those surveyed agreed that "if everyone does their bit, we can reduce the effect of climate change." But this belief isn't always reflected in our everyday behaviour. It's not always easy to balance the need for large-scale international change with personal action.

Our grantholders have tackled this challenge in several ways, breaking down the barriers that can make environmental change feel huge, distant or overwhelming and focusing on the very human elements that engage and sustain us. By understanding our motivators and drivers, whether that's reducing our bills or strengthening our sense of connection to our community, and combining this with practical actions that feel achievable we're seeing ways we can all make a difference: a difference that sticks.

1. Helping people to save money and lower their carbon emissions

Engaging people in activities to reduce their carbon footprint can be a tough ask. It can feel at once abstract, and significantly bigger than anything they can affect through their own behaviour or choices. By focusing on more immediate and tangible consequences of reducing carbon emissions, grantholders have been able to make the issue feel relevant and personal. Using less energy saves money, can reduce fuel poverty and create warmer, more comfortable homes.

"The little tricks that we share with people almost act as a hook to get to know them better and we become aware of their needs," explain staff at Y Dref Werdd. This social enterprise is based in Blaenau Ffestiniog, Gwynedd, which has the highest fuel poverty in Wales.¹⁹ Working with more than 400 families, it's helped them save over £200,000.20 The project's energy advice has led to 246 applications for the Warm Home Discount, saving residents a total of £34,440. And 70 participants have successfully applied for support from the Nest scheme, which tackles fuel poverty with home improvements like new boilers or central heating.

While installing energy saving measures, projects have also been able to help people review their energy use. Manor House PACT in north London made home visits to discuss simple adaptations. "The Energy Advisor helped me make some changes to my flat and to think about how I can use less energy and water," one participant explained. "I was really surprised when my next quarterly bill was down by almost £50 - these savings will make a real difference to my family." 83% of those visited said they had stuck to their pledges, while 90% said that the visit had changed how they use energy at home.21 Across 913 homes, PACT's visits helped residents save £147,618 and 411,146kg of carbon.²²



Green Prosperity, a Communities Living Sustainably project in Hull,²³ offered energy advice, particularly to older and vulnerable people. Home energy monitors had an immediate impact. When people saw their energy readings shoot up when they put the kettle on, they became more careful about over-filling or boiling it so frequently. It's important to use this window of opportunity to support people so that behaviour change becomes absorbed into everyday life. "Monitors are really important for 6-8 months while people learn what to do," explained one adviser. "After that there isn't much change and they become ornamental."24

In Salford, the Irwell Valley Sustainable Communities project presented its online carbon measuring tool as a savings calculator. "Our evaluation team felt quite strongly that if we just talked about carbon footprint that wouldn't be as engaging as cash." ²⁵ The tool showed users how they could save money while helping the environment, meaning the project team could also use the results to identify which behaviours to target.

Stronger Families, a project supporting unemployed people with children to get back into work, also focused on everyday changes. Making sure that everyone shut down their computers overnight saved an average of 216,000 watts of electricity per person, with a further 8,640 watts saved if an employee also switched off their computer during team meetings. They also reduced travel emissions by encouraging video calling, holding work from home days and making sure venues were accessible by public transport.²⁶

Consulting an expert can uncover new ways to save money and carbon. Through a network of local coordinators and peer mentors, Renew Wales supports community groups to tackle the causes and impact of climate change. Participants are enthusiastic about getting so many new ideas, from, "little things that could have a big impact," like energy efficient bulbs, to bicycle schemes or funding for more sustainable water, which they, "wouldn't have thought about," otherwise.²⁷ Their larger scale projects include the micro hydro project at Cwm Clydach, which generates an income of up to £25,000 a year to support local community buildings and services. They've made their buildings more energy efficient by installing solar panels, solar water harvesting and rainwater harvesting. Measures like this can make serious savings – which means there's more to spend on the organisation's own priorities.

When Renew Wales helped one organisation install solar panels and LED lighting, its energy bills dropped by, "probably over 50%. It's huge last month – we produced over 50% of what we use [...] Our chair said it's almost like having a new grant every year [...] It's transformational, as we're able to spend the money we'd be paying out to British Gas on our charitable aims." ²⁸

2. Reducing food, clothing and furniture waste

Waste is a major contributor to greenhouse gases. It takes land, water and labour to produce the goods and food that go to landfill – where they produce more emissions as they break down. Estimates suggest that we waste around £19 billion of food in the UK – although we've seen a reduction of almost £1.3 billion since 2015.29 Grantholders have found ways to reduce waste, often as part of their work on other issues such as poverty, social exclusion and loneliness.

For some people, making greener choices can be a luxury they feel they can't afford. Sustainable food is often more expensive, at least in upfront costs. Yet some argue that consumers pay "three times over" for non-organic food - over the counter and again in hidden costs, like the effects of pollution. ³⁰

Grantholders are working at every stage of the food cycle to reconcile the true cost of food with the realities of food poverty. Real Food Wythenshawe mapped the area to identify possible growing sites, then matched them to local community groups interested in running and maintaining them.³¹ In Stirling, Edible Borders replanted municipal flower beds with food crops. They were cost-efficient, because they used fewer plants³² and the harvest went to the local Salvation Army kitchens.

Meanwhile gardens are designed to be short-term, using sites earmarked for future development. Irwell Valley made temporary use of a traffic island,³³ while Middlesbrough's Community Patchwork Orchard finds and promotes public sites where fruit trees and bushes grow, teaching safe foraging and maintenance and distributing surplus fruit to those who need it most.³⁴

We know that, when food poverty increases, people are less likely to pay attention to arguments for local, seasonal food.³⁵ Grantholders are tackling waste and hunger by redistributing surpluses. Hubbub's Community Fridge Network redistributes an average of 584kg of food each month, from locations including community centres, places of worship, cafés and universities. Businesses (95%) and individuals donate food is available for free to those facing hardship. As one community fridge user explains, "Without this wonderful service, me and my children would never eat fresh fruit and veg."³⁶

FareShare also redistributes surplus food to charities that turn it into meals. In 2019, it redistributed 20,838 tons of food through regional centres across the UK, to organisations including homeless hostels, children's breakfast clubs, domestic violence refuges and community cafés.³⁷ We've supported the charity to expand its work by putting new volunteer managers in place and recruiting and training hundreds more volunteers. As a result, FareShare got 25% more food out to charities in just one year.³⁸

During the COVID-19 lockdown, FareShare increased its partnerships with food businesses by almost 25%, tripling the amount of food it distributed each week. And in just one week in June 2020 it provided enough food to charities and community groups that they could deliver over 3.2 million meals to people across the UK.³⁹

Middlesbrough Environment City stresses that by using pay as you feel food stalls, you're acting on sustainability as well as saving money. Working with surplus food, the charity aims, "to change the idea that you're only benefiting from this because you're poor and you're eating stuff that's wasted. [...] It's an environmental issue that you're helping to solve."40

In Scotland, Furniture Plus works against poverty and social exclusion by reusing, repairing and recycling furniture and other household goods. While the core aim is to provide furniture to those in need, this also means reducing the amount going to landfill. In one year they diverted 238 tonnes, supported 1,700 local families and 12 volunteers gained new skills and work experience.⁴¹

Though reuse is good for the environment, it can still have a bad image. Where buying second hand is associated with poverty, people often prefer new goods - even if they're lower quality.⁴² Forest Recycling **Project** tackles this by hosting workshops where craftspeople and graduates from London College of Fashion share ideas for zero-waste living. Each public workshop pays for a second event, held for the charity's volunteers. "A superhot designer comes in to teach them about repairing clothes - and they know that everyone else pays real money for this."43 It adds glamour and credibility whilst teaching sustainable, money-saving techniques.

By turning them into shared activities, projects have found that reuse and upcycling can be a way to attract interest. Sustainable Sunderland used upcycling workshops to engage the community, along with activities for families and community clean-ups. "It was important for me to see the effects of the activities of the organisation," explained one participant, who was pleased to see completed projects as well as ideas for upcycling and growing vegetables shared on the group's Facebook page.⁴⁴



3. Nurturing knowledge and skills

Knowing which environmental actions will be most effective in your area can be a challenge, but many grantholders have found new ways to get practical recommendations and advice. Some focus on learning what does and doesn't work as they go, while others have focused on increasing access to formal training in conservation and environmental skills that can be an important way of helping people into work.

Offering practical knowledge can create a snowball effect that starts with attracting people, then equipping them to stay involved over the longer term. Telford Access to Nature developed and supported 16 friends' groups, bringing them together as the Telford Green Spaces Partnership. As well as caring for local nature reserves and parks, they identified four more sites with potential and worked with the local authority to create new management plans. Not only did this boost people's skills and confidence, but the Partnership went on to advise the council on green infrastructure planning right across the borough.45

The £30 million Access to Nature programme gave 971,548 people that had rarely connected with nature before, opportunities to experience it first-hand. Around two-thirds (640,000) went on to take part in a range of learning activities that included conservation techniques like maintaining footpaths, using tools safely, and identifying and removing invasive species. Almost 42,000 completed more formal training, like the two and a half thousand who received the John Muir Award - a non-competitive, accessible environmental award for people of all backgrounds. Projects also worked closely with local schools, providing Continuing Professional Development (CPD) for staff, and outdoor learning for pupils.46 Projects were successful in changing their practice too: taking lessons learned and applying them to other initiatives, creating new strategic goals or investing their resources differently.47

Training also enables local people to influence and contribute to a more sustainable local infrastructure. After significant flooding in Salford in 2015, the Irwell Valley Sustainable Communities project created a list of the 100 most vulnerable local households, a community emergency plan and a group of volunteers who were trained to issue flood warnings. They've subsequently played a vital role in surveying the local flood plain and lobbied the council to convert 6.5 hectares of land next to the river into a wetland to help protect homes and businesses.⁴⁸

Across the Communities Living Sustainably Programme, more than 6,000 people received training or went on to paid or voluntary roles in the environment sector, and almost 10,000 got help to make more environmentally friendly choices at home or work. For example, Manor House PACT volunteers got free training in exchange for volunteer time credits. This created new skills in green construction, practical conservation, permaculture and forest gardening and 70 volunteers went on to find paid work using their new skills.⁴⁹

Tapping into the convictions of young people has been important too. Led by The Wildlife Trusts, Our Bright Future is a £33 million investment that supports children and young people to be environmental leaders. More than 80,000 11-24-year olds have taken part across 31 projects. Activities include habitat management and work on conservation and biodiversity, alongside communication, team working and decision-making skills. Three formal leadership programmes are designed to arm youngsters with skills for campaigning, planning and decision making: Bright Green Future; My World My Home and the **Environmental Leadership Programme.** Through them young people have

Through them young people have presented policy asks to Parliament;⁵⁰ created local youth fora⁵¹; taken up trustee roles in conservation charities;⁵² shared views with decision-makers in Stormont, who are developing Northern Ireland's first-ever environment strategy, and spoken at a range of events including the Wales Energy Forum and Friends of the Earth Cymru's National Gathering.⁵³

The programme's interim evaluation noted that, despite challenges with collecting impact data, there are examples of self-reported increases in knowledge and skills, plus related benefits like improvements in participants' motivation to learn. By December 2018, 3,932 children and young people had gained qualifications, including NVQs, John Muir and Duke of Edinburgh awards. Its larger legacy will be what these young people go on to achieve. "I can't predict the future, but I really want our community to get better," explained one participant. "But it's about turning up on the day and doing it. It's about keeping your word. So one day when we grow up and we come back, we'll feel like we made this place a better place."54

Step-by-step approaches can be an effective way to move people from taking part in one-off sessions to longer-term involvement, which might include volunteering, training or advocacy. Forest Recycling Project's Waltham Forest Foundations scheme worked with unemployed people and those who were socially isolated or had mental ill health and supported them to move from taking part in workshops to sharing their skills, leading sessions and mentoring other volunteers. At all stages, the project promoted ways to reuse materials and reduce waste, while supporting people to make connections and increase their confidence.⁵⁵ A follow-up project takes this further: volunteers can now go on to work with external partners, helping to build networks across the environmental sector.56

"It's got to be about building people up. [...] If you don't support the people, and give them the skills and confidence and self-esteem to actually attend, there's no sustainability and no legacy to any of the work."

Cheryl Dixon, Vice Chair North Ormesby Big Local

Allowing people to move at their own pace, when and if they want to is important. While Access to Nature supported 42,000 people to take part in training and development, we should also celebrate the 971,548 people who visited and enjoyed outdoor spaces – sometimes for the first time.

4. A sense of connection: building belonging and community pride

Local, visible transformation can change how people see their own communities, and how they feel about where they live. In Liverpool, regeneration of the **Granby Four Streets** area started by planting flowers. The neglected neighbourhood was becoming derelict⁵⁷ until residents took control, planting up the streets, "with flowers in huge tubs and ivy climbing up the empty buildings".

This spontaneous gesture grew into longer term change. Residents set up a Community Land Trust to renovate the area. Grants from The National Lottery Community Fund supported skills workshops, newsletters, translators and communications support to get the word out. The Trust's art collaboration even won the Turner Prize. But they still see that early planting as a turning point, helping to create, "one of the cleanest, greenest and even award-winning quarters in the city." Change started with people taking pride in where they lived and showing that they valued it.

While visible change can be very motivating, improvements might not be enough. Residents are sometimes wary, worried that damage or vandalism might undermine clean-ups, or fearful of drawing attention that makes them feel vulnerable. By finding practical solutions for these fears, projects can improve safety while proving that they take local concerns seriously. Cheryl, a Middlesbrough Environment City volunteer, introduced

planters but, "the plants didn't last five minutes." She went on to build a successful community park in the same area. The difference was that when the park was developed, a CCTV system was included, "to create a sense of safety in our older generation. There was no good building things [...] if people were too frightened to come outside."59

Middlesbrough residents also turned the paved alleys between rows of terraced houses into community gardens, planting flowers and fruit trees. Installing alley gates was an essential first step, not just to prevent break-ins and fly tipping, but to build confidence. 81-year-old Mavis, a member of the Alley Pals group, explains that her street was one of the first to be fitted with gates. "The minute that was done, I thought, it will be safe now, you can do more with that." The space is now lavishly planted. "It's very precious, we live on a main road, an arterial road with a bus route, and we don't have space at the front of the house. So to have an outside space it's a valuable community space, and it's very well used."60

Involving communities in neighbourhood design also has the potential to strengthen local pride. 61 The Connswater Community Greenway invited local people to choose names for its new bridges and walkways, often honouring locals like Sam Thompson, an east Belfast shipyard worker and playwright whose work included the play Over the Bridge and addressed themes like friendship, life in the shipyards and the trade union movement. In its first year, 220,000 people crossed the new Sam Thompson Bridge, which has led to greater use of the local park, including increased membership of running and cycling groups.62

It's also the case that when people have worked on something, they feel a closer connection to it. Through Access to Nature, people volunteered in their local green spaces and made them more accessible by creating new entrances, paths, trails, bridges and fences. This work opened up many sites to new users, and nearly 640,000 people used this improved access to visit sites for the first time, while over 800,000 benefitted from other improvements like better design and greater biodiversity. The work created a sense of ownership and affection, as people who had worked on the improvements wanted to share them with others. The project found that, "children and young people are returning to sites with their families to show them around." 63

"The stuff you plant, you get kind of protective of all the things you've made happen."

Participant, Student Community Action at Rupert's Wood, Newcastle ⁶⁴

Changes in mindset are harder to measure than visitor numbers, but projects across Access to Nature reported this growing sense of care. Some participants made formal commitments, such as starting or joining friends' groups to maintain natural places. Others were "discouraging and reporting" damaging behaviour, such as fly tipping, littering and vandalism. 65

People also built new connections.

Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust worked with one youth group who initially had a negative view of the local Country Park.

A year later, the young people, "now look down on anyone that causes disruption and damages trees," and were ready to work with others to prevent this, sharing information with other local groups. 66

Other projects build on local pride and loyalties. **Brymbo Heritage**, a Create Your Space project near Wrexham in north east Wales, set out to turn a former steelworks – an important symbol of the community's recent industrial past – into a new visitor attraction. By taking a green approach, and framing the steelworks as a community asset, the project has helped to bring different local groups together.

Some are passionate about their industrial heritage, particularly those who have, "living memories of the 20th century steelworks," 67 while others want somewhere safe and green for their children to play. The area has an older village and a newer housing estate, which had tended to keep apart rather than mixing as a single community. The project has helped to bring them together. 68

"In the 18th century Wales became the world's first industrial nation. Now it's leading the way in tackling issues around sustainable development [...] it's all being delivered by the people with the greatest stake in its success - our people. From former workers sharing their memories and passing on their skills, to residents young and old bringing fresh energy and approaches [...] working together to care for and celebrate our special place. 3369

Brymbo Heritage

5. Supporting individual and community wellbeing

There's a wealth of evidence to show that nature is good for us. And a World Health Organization review found that increasing and improving urban green space can deliver health, social and environmental benefits, particularly among groups with lower socioeconomic status. The most effective projects combine improving space with social engagement – and this is central to our approach to funding.⁷⁰

We know that many of the factors that contribute to creating a thriving community are important for the environment and our physical and mental health too. The huge changes needed for climate action are also an opportunity to improve quality of life across the UK. Outdoor activity and exercise, reducing air pollution, eating more fruit and vegetables and connecting with nature can all contribute to greener, happier and healthier lives.⁷¹

This can also address the climate emergency's negative effects on wellbeing. Psychotherapists have seen a sharp rise in people suffering from eco anxiety.⁷² ⁷³ Greta Thunberg, the Swedish teenager who started the school strike for climate movement, was diagnosed with depression, which she links to her fears for the planet.⁷⁴ Psychologists suggest that taking action can reduce feelings of hopelessness and loss of control.⁷⁵ And as Thunberg explains, "the one thing we need more than hope is action. Once we start to act, hope is everywhere."⁷⁶

Many of our grantholders have seen important benefits to people's wellbeing through their involvement in improving their local environment. Communities Living Sustainably tracked participants' wellbeing over the course of the programme, alongside seven other recognised indicators of sustainability, which included biodiversity, community and the local economy. Wellbeing had the lowest starting score, but by the end of the programme had increased by over 30%.⁷⁷ Evaluators put this down to the programme's emphasis on physical activity and growing and eating fresh food, along with making homes warmer and healthier, and, "the well-established links between environmental activities and mental health."

"Improved wellbeing can perhaps be seen as the greatest legacy of Communities Living Sustainably"⁷⁸

Halfway through the Our Bright Future programme, 85,788 young people have been involved in environmental action and campaigning. And for over 10% of them, this is sustained action, lasting more than three months.⁷⁹ Evaluators have gathered a range of anecdotal evidence about the positive impact this is having on 11-24 year-olds' confidence, mental health and wellbeing.80 Feedback from staff, young people themselves and family members is backed up by survey results with a sample of participants. Results show that at the start, just 41% agreed or strongly agreed that they felt confident in themselves. Through taking part in activities delivered through the programme, this has almost doubled to 80%.81 There are other positives for children and young people too - like feeling more relaxed, connected to others and having faith that they can make a difference to the environment. One Year 10 student expresses this wellbeing benefit beautifully. "I love feeling the wind in my face, it clears away all the bad things in my head and fills it with nice things."82

It's not easy to aggregate this mix of data and anecdotal evidence from across so many activities, but it's clear that there are recurring and interconnected wellbeing benefits from working in and around nature and green space, as well as working with others to improve and green your local area. These can include anything from losing weight and increasing the amount of physical exercise you do, to feeling less stressed or anxious.

From rubbish dump to a place to heal

Middlesbrough Environment City with Investing in People and Culture created Albert Park Community Garden on the site of a former rubbish dump. It's now a thriving allotment where asylum seekers, refugees and people of more than ten nationalities grow plants, alongside local university students, people with learning disabilities and other residents. It's a place to make friends and improve your English language skills while growing and nurturing crops. For Ibrahim, "it's like one big family [and] a way of improving your mental wellbeing. Most of us have had terrible journeys to the UK. The community garden is a good place, you have no fear, your mind is at ease."83



Even the simplest environmental actions can offer a range of benefits. Grow Wild's programme to grow and learn about plants and fungi that are native to the UK means people give back to their community by volunteering. They get personal benefits too: 65% of people who received a seed kit said this helped them build connections with others in their neighbourhood and 73% got outdoors more often. That's not to downplay the benefits of reaching 30% of the UK's most deprived places and covering the equivalent of a thousand football pitches with wildflowers - making our local places look and feel more attractive and cared for.84

Practical support also plays a vital role in offering kindness and care. Not only did Y Dref Werdd support a client to reduce her electricity payments and apply for a new heating system so she could afford to heat her home; they also helped her cope with being bereaved and isolated in a place she didn't know well. "I hadn't been here that long when my husband died [...] I didn't know anybody, and I felt very isolated and alone [...] you helped me feel a part of a really warm community. That was really significant in helping me feel that I was at home and that I had a positive future ahead of me."85

In capturing the difference sustainability projects are making, it's becoming clear that we should look broadly and see all the ways in which participation benefits people and their communities. As we'll see, finding ways to demonstrate the difference in environmental terms is urgent - to keep people motivated to act – but acting on something that has meaning to us also has a powerful impact. It helps address urgent social challenges like loneliness, anxiety or simply helping each other feel more connected to our community and our neighbours.

Seven things we've learned about community action for the environment

We've seen how the climate emergency means everyone is taking steps to lead greener, more sustainable lives. And yet we know that behaviour change is one of the hardest things to implement and sustain.

Concrete, tangible ideas can help people act, but messages of fear don't necessarily help people to change their behaviour.86 Where dire warnings may have a paralysing effect, showing what each of us can do has helped encourage people to act.

We're learning that simple steps from motivating the willing, to finding fun and engaging ways to measure progress can help sustain people's energy and interest. Deeper and more profound work to diversify and make the movement more inclusive are also an essential part of ensuring that we support, empower and include all of our communities in this movement for change.



1. Behaviour change comes

Inertia is a, "key obstacle to changing behaviour," 87 so helping those who are already willing but haven't yet acted may help encourage more widespread change. The Scottish Government's Climate Challenge Fund found that it had the most success by helping people to act on ideas they'd already considered but hadn't got around to doing yet. Projects were much less likely to convert sceptics who saw no merit in being greener.88 Environmental campaigner Anne-Marie Bonneau argues, "We don't need a handful of people doing zero waste perfectly, we need millions of people doing it imperfectly."89

What helps people to change?

The UK Government's Behavioural Insights Team (BIT) emphasises that behaviour change should be made easy, attractive, timely and social – the EAST model.⁹⁰

Making it easy might mean breaking an action down into clearer, more concrete steps. 'Eat five a day' is a more precise and useful message than 'eat healthily'.

The social element is where community groups can make a powerful difference. Those around us play a key role in influencing our behaviour, so our social networks may help enable collective action, by providing mutual support, and spreading behaviour change through the power of positive example.⁹¹

When people find out that their neighbours are using less energy, their own usage drops. Part However, there's also risk of a boomerang effect if people see their own consumption is below average their usage may increase. Adding a message of approval or disapproval, like smiley or sad face emojis, can prevent this effect because affirmation and encouragement are powerful levers. When we're told we've done well, we want to keep going.

Projects have learned that aligning their work to what matters to people is an important motivator. "People's values (guiding principles in their lives), and their sense of identity (how they define themselves) are crucial to how they engage with climate change, and are broadly consistent between different contexts and situations. This consistency is important in establishing low-carbon lifestyles (rather than a cluster of more disparate behaviour changes). The reasons and motivations behind changes in behaviour really matter."95

This process of making your work personal and positive is really important to tap into people's different motivators – from being 'early adopters', to making it meaningful for people and their loved ones. Going Carbon Neutral Stirling aimed to reach half the city's population who were new to environmental work, through a sales and marketing approach. It set daily and monthly targets for cold-calling local organisations and as a result 261 community groups, schools, businesses, and council departments agreed to take part in the project's Carbon Cutter Plans. ⁹⁶

With ongoing support, each group developed its own plan, choosing from a list of actions designed to reduce their carbon footprint. Working in groups encouraged larger scale participation and meant that people could support each other. 85% of participants surveyed made changes to their behaviour or lifestyle, with 96% saying they had stuck with these actions after a year. The impact of these sustained changes included an estimated reduction of 682,323 miles in car journeys, and 676,943kg of waste diverted from landfill. The project learned that appealing for help, and emphasising how people and communities can contribute, was much more effective than just suggesting that they could save money.97

As well as its work on 'fast fashion', Forest Recycling Project provides vouchers that entitle housing association residents to up 50 litres of free, reclaimed paint to decorate their new home. Clients were initially sceptical about the idea of using waste paint, but were convinced when they understood that waste didn't mean inferior quality or having less choice. "They'll say, 'I don't want waste paint'," explains CEO Pernille Moeller, but if, "your daughter really wants a pink room – I will go to serious trouble to find that pink your daughter wants!

"We actively talk about paint and waste, not about CO₃. We say, 'This would have gone to landfill, it would eventually go into our waterways and our soil.' That's way more tangible than, 'There was a lot of plastic in the production'. You can almost see it: cans of paint in landfill, and eventually that metal casing is going to erode. It's an easy story to tell." 98

This personalised and thoughtful approach, which links taking care of the environment with taking care of your home and family, alongside their wider strategy of reduce, re-use and recycle, means they've been able to reuse 459,097 litres of paint, saving 1,406,065 Kg of CO₂ emissions.⁹⁹ And though the work with housing associations is expensive for the charity, it's a valuable chance for engagement, often leading to residents getting involved as volunteers.

Finding these connections is vital for behaviour 'spill over' - the idea that one green action will lead to another, unlocking a pattern of more sustainable living. It's a key goal, but one of the hardest to achieve. The Scottish Government's Climate Challenge Fund found that, even where projects set out to encourage it, this, "very rarely worked when the promoted behaviours were, in their [participants'] eyes, unconnected."100

By framing the work as part of something bigger, projects can help to develop those connections. "Making the link between growing food in your garden and stuff that you potentially throw out at the end of the day is quite interesting," explained a member of the Edinburgh Garden Share Scheme. "If I'm growing stuff here, I definitely don't want to be throwing it out."101

Engaging people's values and their sense of identity may be the best chance of creating spill over because people want to live up to the reputation they've established for themselves. 102 Sharing knowledge and making the conversation part of everyday life is important because of the key role that peer pressure has in driving behaviour, making going green more visible and mainstream. 103

Linking small actions to the bigger picture can also help people to make greener choices: if someone saves money on heating bills but spends it on a bigger television, the emissions could cancel out the original savings.¹⁰⁴

Focusing on values is a way to emphasise the other benefits of carbon reduction, such as improved air quality and green space, better health and wellbeing and more connected communities. Campaigning has tended to emphasise the negative: what you should give up, what we're trying to prevent. Don't miss the positives, the chance to show how greener choices can improve everyday life.

2. Harness our desire to connect and feel we belong

Neighbourliness has a strong appeal for many people. Transition Streets, set up by Communities Living Sustainably Dorset, shared advice on transport, energy, food and water. But it presented itself primarily as a community group, "a chance to get together and have a chat with your neighbour."105

The tight local focus made a real difference and they learned that groups drawn from a single street worked much better than those from a wider area. "A lot of the neighbours would run away from anything described as green," one participant admitted, but they got involved because the sense of community appealed to them. The combination of peer support and practical knowledge created momentum and enthusiasm and people were inspired to make small, practical changes. "I've lagged my pipes, installed a reflector behind two radiators, insulated my loft cover, cut my time in the shower."106 Over six months, one small group of neighbours saved £658.66, with pledged action expected to save an additional £1,626 over time.

Throughout, there was a sense of learning together and supporting each other as equals. Communities Living Sustainably Dorset gave its groups autonomy; they ran their own meetings and recruited their own members. This made them more self-sustaining, with some groups continuing to work together after the project ended.

A small grant to pilot the Fife Communities **Climate Action Network** tested ways to build capacity and trial a model of regional support that, if successful, could be adopted by similar networks across Scotland. Through five networking meetings, they brought together 30 community groups to learn from each other and network with potential partners. These simple opportunities to connect with others in their area helped 55% of groups to start to tackle challenges they faced in their work. The benefits ranged from gaining reassurance that, "just knowing that there are others in Fife doing similar work, sharing challenges and information, is a boost to morale [...] we're not plugging away at this alone" and also, "because of the contacts made, we have now established a development trust and given us a first project to focus on."107 19 organisations joined the network, which went on to be part of Fife Environment Partnership, which helped govern Fife Council and other public sector bodies' work on climate change.

Grantholders also say that though leaflets and advertising campaigns can raise awareness, nothing beats speaking to people face-to-face. Door-knocking, personal appeals and word of mouth can get through to people who don't respond to written information. Conversation offers the chance to ask questions, to hear what a project is actually doing, and what it could do for you personally.

Make these conversations part of other work you do. Visiting homes to offer free energy advice, or redistributing surplus food, are chances to raise environmental awareness, give people information about where to get further help, or share ways they can get involved in the project.¹⁰⁸

Talking can also prepare the way for other approaches. Woodland Routes to Wellbeing tried to reach people on one local estate through a volunteer recruitment day. That didn't work, but they learned that people were much more interested in, "results they are seeing take place," like the project team at work in the woods, and the chance to talk to them about what they were doing.¹⁰⁹ One resident approached the team about fly tipping, leading to a leaflet drop recruiting other people to help clear up the woods and surrounding area. They formed a litter group, which has been, "instrumental in maintaining the area," and recruited five litter champions. 110



3. Use the power of good example and keep demonstrating what's possible

Projects have shown that working at community level is small enough to feel personal, but big enough to have a real impact. Individual changes add up so much faster when there's a group making them. But this isn't just about increasing numbers, it can also be about chipping away at stereotypes and cynicism and helping people develop confidence and self-belief.

"Some people have the mentality; if it's just me that does it, it's not going to make a massive difference, so why do it?" explained a participant in Sustainable Sunderland. "Being different can be a social barrier [...] People are judgemental, you get called for doing [for example] a litter pick [...] A good community stick together, so if someone does stuff, others follow."111

Grantholders have found that emphasising the moral and social reasons to act, while showing practical ways to do it, is most likely to lead to action. 112 Participants said that one of Manor House PACT's biggest achievements was the way it improved their sense of belonging, of community. "You start on small things, but it snowballs," one explained, "we are all supporters of PACT, we are all doing things together." While ways to save money were attractive, "working together for a shared goal has been the biggest driver of behaviour change." As one resident put it, "I have learnt I can make a difference... that we can make a difference."113

Social Farms and Gardens' Growing
Resilience project in Northern Ireland
nurtured, "the development of trusting
and reciprocal relationships," which helped
people gain confidence to take their first
steps. "The support from the other groups
made it easier to test it out, a gentle
audience. Even after we did it we were
chatting about how we could it differently."
By the end this new found assertiveness
had become motivation in itself, "We don't
need to follow trends/the crowd etc. When
we have a good idea, we should do it."

114

Sustainable Sunderland found that, while businesses wanted to engage with environmental issues, "they aren't always top, or anywhere near the top, of their priority list. This was a huge issue for smaller organisations whose tiny margins prevented them from getting involved." VCS organisations had to focus on, "keeping a building open, paying staff and raising money for project work. Environmental sustainability and green issues slip down the order of importance." The challenge is to find ways of embedding those issues into everyday life.

The Climate Action Top Up Pilot

To support our grantholders in Wales to be more sustainable we've piloted green top-up grants. Working with partners Renew Wales and Severn Wye Energy Agency, projects develop action plans, and The National Lottery Community Fund provide an extra £10,000 upfront to support the expenses of becoming greener. These grants have paid for a wide range of things, from electric charging points, solar panels and thermostats, to local feasibility studies, orchards and allotments.

As a result, twelve of the building projects supported by **Sustainable Communities Wales**, have estimated their annual savings at 236,049 kilowatt hours - a 56 tonne reduction in CO₂, and cost savings of £13,487. Others, like **Growing Space** have involved 40 people with mental health or learning disabilities in carbon reduction activities.

We learned that grantholders don't need any real encouragement to take part, but access to impartial advice is really important so that projects, "were able to have confidence that we were addressing the most important areas and that the quotes we were getting were reasonable and from reputable companies." Charities valued the grants because, without the extra money, few felt able to pay for or prioritise activities like these. Overall, we've learned that offering larger amounts and a longer window to spend it in would help similar initiatives have even more impact.117



It's easier to act when your choices are clear, simple and fit your situation. Showing people how to do something is more effective than just telling them – particularly if this happens in their own home or business. By visiting people, projects can make changes on the spot, identify potential problems and highlight the tips that will be most useful in each case.

Repeat visits support and reinforce change. It takes time to form a new habit, and people are more likely to stick to their pledges if they think someone will check how they're doing. A second visit is an opportunity to check possible barriers and give people a chance to try further changes or to try again with what hasn't worked the first time. Manor House PACT found that follow-up visits were, "incredibly effective in seeing and addressing problems," calculating that the 363 homes visited twice in one year saved an average of £179 each. 118

Some projects have tried to simplify people's choices by categorising their options as "easier" (turning off lights), or "harder" (using the car less or replacing inefficient boilers). These distinctions didn't stand up in practice because different people find different things easy or hard. And it became clear that, by making assumptions about what people might like to do, projects were influencing the outcomes. The turning point came when they replaced these rankings with the potential carbon savings for each action. When people could see the effect their decisions would have, they stopped choosing options that saved less carbon. Given the right information, people targeted the biggest impact.¹¹⁹

Existing groups have built-in strengths and connections, so it's important to make the most of them. Building environmentally friendly behaviour into what the community already values, rather than trying to impose something from outside can reach a larger number of people and beyond the usual suspects of the green movement.

At its simplest, this can be a way of getting the word out, for example by asking a local GP consortia or community group to promote a project, or by asking groups or businesses to sign up to shared action. Another option is to develop longer term partnerships, in which one side offers green expertise while the other brings a new client base, with knowledge of their service users' needs and priorities. Where partner groups are already trusted, they give weight and credibility to the environmental advice.

"It would take us forever to [build that trust]," explains Mark Fishpool of Middlesbrough Environment City, which has developed a network of partners across the town. "And why would you, when there's somebody there already?" Working with community interest groups, MEC helps them to develop their resources, "so they then have the capacity to get on and recruit from their community and deliver on our behalf." Co-designing the work makes sure that it meets the needs of both organisations. 120

4. Make it tangible: measure and show the difference you are making

Another key insight is the importance of making changes visible and demonstrating their clear connection to, or impact on, community life. The Centre for Sustainable Energy found that encouraging people to increase their loft insulation might make the biggest carbon savings – but installing a solar panel on a local school would do much more to raise awareness.¹²¹

Quick wins, visible change and recognition of what you've achieved are good motivators because they make things concrete, telling a positive story of change. Feeling that you've made a difference is also empowering. And showing what you've done can double its value by motivating others and drawing more attention and support. Sharing successes can mean everything from showing and celebrating progress as you go, to finding ways of recording less visible or tangible progress like carbon reduction.

Construction of the Connswater Community Greenway ran from 2013 to 2017, but planners made sure that people could benefit from the work as quickly as possible. As each section of the park was completed, it was opened to the public, "so that local people could use the facility and quickly see what the project was aiming to achieve."122 Within the first four months of construction, the Greenway opened a major new bridge and a woodland trail. They launched with large public events – a naming ceremony and a festival - designed to promote the Greenway, tie it in to sources of local pride, and demonstrate how the community could use it.123

Sharing achievement is harder when your results are less tangible. Work on climate can be particularly challenging: how do you celebrate changes you can't see or touch, such as lower emissions? Our grantholders have found ways to visualise or measure the difference they've made, helping people to understand what they've achieved.

Visualise it

"One of the main challenges, specifically if you consider the use of energy in the home, is these difficult concepts, like – 'What does six tonnes of carbon dioxide look like?' We use this as the average figure for people in Blaenau. And what it is – if you could see it - is the equivalent to a hot air balloon stuck to each dwelling."

Y Dref Werdd¹²⁴

Finding ways to quantify carbon savings can give a sense of control and agency. The Centre for Sustainable Energy found that 'measurable outputs' are an effective way to drive change, with community groups emphasising, "the importance of monitoring and publicising the impact of the actions."125 As well as sharing successes, this can be a way to spread awareness of the issue, and of what can be done to tackle it.

It's important to find the right level of measurement. The Scottish Government's Climate Challenge Fund found that calculating carbon savings could be, "a challenging, complex and confusing process."126 Though targets can be motivating, some groups found recording progress was stressful. With so many different tools and calculators available, the choice can be baffling. Some measurement systems require many inputs and calculations; others are simpler, but less accurate.

While carbon savings matter, community groups often have other priorities, such as raising awareness or empowering people. Nobody wants to spend more time on recording than on actually doing the work. Projects and funders need to be realistic about what measurement systems may be available and appropriate. A community group's motivational milestones might not need the robust measurement levels of a scientific research project.

Dorset Community Energy installed solar panels on 12 schools and four community buildings.¹²⁷ Participating schools will save an estimated £600,000 over a period of 20 years, as well as saving 3,000 tonnes of CO₂. They've used the panels as an educational resource and placed smart displays in the entrance fover of each school, so that pupils, staff and visitors can learn about the energy they are generating.128

We know that incentives can have a short-term impact but may not contribute to long-term change. 129 The government's feed-in tariff system, which paid householders for the energy they produced from solar panels, led to a boom in installations; but this stopped when the tariffs ended. 130 Studies also suggest that financial rewards only encourage people to behave differently while the incentive lasts, and only for the action that will save them money.131

You can reduce this risk by presenting financial savings as part of a larger discussion that builds carbon literacy and makes the link between reduced costs and protecting the environment. Recognise too that you'll need to tailor messaging for different audiences. Bright Green Business matches environmental students with grantholders for 10-week placements. They found that boards and committees responded strongly to the financial benefits of making environmentally friendly changes, but when speaking to the wider community, it was better to talk about how change would benefit them or their area. 132

When you can measure what you're doing, it becomes easier to set targets. The Building Better Opportunities (BBO) programme - a large investment with the European Social Fund (ESF) into tackling the root causes of poverty and driving local jobs and growth - asks all grantholders to create a sustainable development policy and record their progress. It's a way of showing that environmental action isn't just for green projects, but for everyone. The bar for evidence was deliberately set quite low, as it's designed to be a minimum requirement that everybody can meet, with encouragement to go further if they can. Projects must report every quarter, but there's flexibility over the level of recording and action. We ask BBO grantholders to consider which areas they can focus on, with simple baselines as a starting point for continuous improvement.133 This guarantees that all 132 projects take part.

Setting targets can also help keep up the momentum, give a clear sense of what you're aiming for and make it fun. Healthy competition can reinforce change. Within your organisation, try tracking how much waste goes to landfill in seven days, then see if you can do better next week. Create a table to compare the performance of different green initiatives, to see where you've done most good, and where you could do better. Or get in touch with other organisations in your area and suggest a competition: can you top the local green league?¹³⁴

You can make a game of one-off events, too. For greening projects - which find ways to add plants to an urban neighbourhood, such as window boxes and vertical planting – get the community involved, see who can finish their planter first. It's an effortless way to make the process faster, and to get people invested in the results.

The change our grantholders have created is something to celebrate. Sharing it is a way to reward their hard work. Whether that's through telling people about a new green space, or challenging them to recycle more, it can be a way to inspire more people to join the cause.



5. Create a network of advocates and enthusiasts

Creating supporters and 'cheerleaders' has helped grantholders to share information and shift mindsets, getting people invested in the ongoing success of their work. Inspiring individuals can really help to push change - informally or as part of an existing role.

For example, champions from among staff and volunteers can be an easy way to instil green values across a wider organisation, Building Futures, a Building Better Opportunities project in Buckinghamshire, commissioned an independent audit commended their progress in developing new environmental policies and procedures. It suggested that their best next step would be to get their staff on board, including appointing green champions to help people change their behaviour.¹³⁵

Others have found that bringing in someone from outside can offer specialist expertise or fresh eyes. In Scotland, Bright Green Business students tailored their approach to the needs and interests of the host organisation: a key part of the programme's success. They could then offer specific solutions, from how to save water and energy, to tips on engaging local residents via social media. Not only did the students bring enthusiasm, they helped charities access free resources they weren't aware of, like energy audits, to help reduce their costs. What's more, they ran a wide range of staff training and workshops, helping to make changes stick once the placement ended. Every organisation reported positive environmental impact as a result of the placement, and all noted an increase in staff awareness of environmental issues too. Five organisations said they'd reduced their energy use and saved money.136



Personality makes a big difference when you're trying to energise and motivate others. Whether you're appointing someone from within the community, or an outside consultant, it's important to match the person to the role. The Bright Green Business model takes great care over the choice of candidates for its student placements. Working with the host organisation, it identifies the needs, aims and limits of the placement, providing a shortlist of applicants for the host to interview and make the final selection. This helps to find the best fit.137

Still, it takes time to form habits and, sometimes, to overcome resistance. Furniture Plus hosted a Bright Green Business student who set out to improve recycling rates. To encourage people to take their waste to one of the new recycling points he removed the kitchen rubbish baskets, only to find that staff kept creating their own makeshift bins. He persevered and, "after constant reminders and engaging with staff this stopped and recycling rates increased." Within weeks, the new system became habit, and people began to feel pride in taking positive action.

'Constant reminders' could so easily feel like nagging, so it's important to find champions who can energise people, rather than putting their backs up. 138 From other projects, we've heard that it's important to watch out for personality clashes. If one of your community's early adopters is on bad terms with the neighbours, that could discourage others from taking part. Be aware of local dynamics, and make sure that they don't undermine your messaging.

The consultants of Renew Wales are based in third sector organisations and draw on a network of peer advisors to carry out their advice. This model both helps to build a local network of knowledge, and has the weight of already trusted voices, people and organisations already established in the community.

The National Lottery Community Fund's own Green Champions network was revitalised by increased numbers, explicit buy-in from management and regular meetings for mutual support and to share tips. 139



6. Take active steps to be diverse and inclusive

When Bristol became the UK's first European Green Capital, explains Jasmine Ketibuah-Foley of Green & Black Ambassadors, 140 she, "could find almost no black or brown role models to look up to."141 Bristol was, "trying to be very sustainable, but it wasn't actually engaging with other communities in those conversations."142 The Green & Black Ambassadors project set out to change that, aiming to pay, train and support a new generation of environmental leaders from Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) backgrounds.

Diversifying the movement means involving more people – but it also means recognising and supporting more of the work that is already happening. Research by the Green & Black Ambassadors found that the, "perception that BAME Bristolians did not participate in 'green' activities was not true. In fact, many people had lived very 'green' lives for a long time," but the mainstream environmental movement hadn't paid attention. The Ambassadors argue that the city needs to do more to understand its diverse communities, and to recognise their contributions.143

Women Connect First works to empower women from Black and minority ethnic communities in Cardiff and South East Wales. They focused on education as a route to change and ran a month of interactive workshops about the environment and an event for women to share their experiences with climate change and how it has affected their lives and home countries. They went on to turn this into action, creating a community garden so women could learn gardening skills, and grow food for their Wales World Café. They explicitly encourage local consumption as a way to contribute to tackling climate change.

Other people say that it can be hard to make environmentally friendly choices on a low income. And research shows that the richest 10% of households produce three times as much CO₂ as those from the poorest 10%. For transport, the difference is between seven to eight times, and ten times for aviation.144 Bright Green Business made sure that their students had someone to support them within their host company, as well as environmental mentorship from outside. The project paid students a living wage, while host companies offered accommodation. This is important, because when the work is unpaid, it may become dominated by affluent voices - those who can afford to take part. And people are less likely to join a movement that doesn't seem to include people like them, or to recognise their concerns.

Actively breaking down other practical barriers is important too. Venues should be open to everyone and accessible for people with disabilities and by public transport. This is particularly important for practical sessions or when using outdoor venues. In Ynysybwl, Vision for our Valley holds activities in the forest, but makes sure that facilities and transport are available so they can be reached easily.145 Trained staff are there to support people with anxiety or mental health issues, and publicity and marketing materials are bilingual and encourage Welsh speakers to use and promote both the language and the project.¹⁴⁶

Environmentally themed classes in English for speakers of other languages (ESOL) can bring double benefits as they are a way to share practical knowledge, as well as improving language skills and reaching different members of the community. Sustainable Sunderland's ESOL participants learned to measure their own carbon footprints¹⁴⁷ and in Middlesbrough, classes taught both practical skills and the English language terms for them. Subjects included gardening, energy efficiency and cycling. "That proved really effective, because it was meeting the real need of improving language skills, but also, 'I can manage my heating system', or 'I can ride a bike'."148

Think inclusively

Think about the changes you're promoting, and whether they work for everyone. Plastic straws have become a symbol of disposable culture, but they can be a vital disability aid. Disability rights activist Penny Pepper points out, "I need straws that bend, ones that can handle all drinks, including medication, and all temperatures [...] that won't cause me to choke or be difficult for me to keep in my mouth."149



7. Be honest about what is and isn't effective

Communities Living Sustainably Dorset's **Eco-Schools** project was part of an international programme to raise environmental awareness, improve the school environment and create financial savings. Keep Britain Tidy managed the CLS project across the UK and empowered pupils to take a lead in their school, while involving parents and the wider community.

Young people developed action plans to improve their school's performance on energy, waste and recycling.¹⁵⁰ In Dorchester, St Mary's Catholic First School reduced electricity consumption by 15%. Across 12 participating schools, recycling almost tripled, while 'switch off' days reduced energy usage by up to 50%.¹⁵¹

Children also worked to influence the behaviour of adults, at home and in the classroom. St Mary's Eco-team monitored lights left on in empty classrooms, leaving a 'splat' where they found wasted energy. "Nobody wants a red 'splat' on their whiteboard!" 152

Other grantholders tell us that working with children brings a lot of goodwill, particularly from family audiences. Woodland Routes to Wellbeing worked with the local primary school to raise awareness. The children made a model of the woodland, which attracted a lot of interest when they displayed it in a local supermarket, with more people volunteering as a result.¹⁵³



However, others found that there are limits to children's power to influence and overall Communities Living Sustainably projects found that working directly with parents was likely to have the biggest impact on their behaviour.154

Grantholders have also found that it helps to be independent of government. Local councils have a huge role to play in improving sustainability, but sometimes prompt mixed feelings. Residents may be wary about checks on benefits or legal status, making them less likely to respond to officials. Manor House PACT found that householders were more likely to invite staff inside once they knew they weren't from the council.155

Recognising that there are limits to what individuals can influence is important to sustaining involvement too. "At some point, unpopular decisions have to be made," explains Mark Fishpool of Middlesbrough Environment City. "Without real changes at policy level, individuals simply can't change, because the system doesn't allow them. I cycle 5,000 miles a year. [But] I still have a car – when the kids were little, we had no choice."156

Sustaining your work matters too and while strong projects and inspiring individuals can help others to change their behaviour, there is a risk that interest will wane once the initial project has ended, or if the champion moves on. When Forest Recycling Project starts a greening project, bringing planting to an urban area, they also work to build ownership among the community. Asking volunteers to help with planting and watering encourages community pride, while preparing people for ongoing maintenance. If you establish groups, people will be able to help each other. "It's about finding that model where someone takes ownership, to the degree where [they] can then carry it."157

Activities are most likely to continue where there is a sense of continuity: a new host organisation, committed group members who will carry the work forward, or something physical, such as equipment provided by the project.158

Conclusion

There is a powerful appetite for environmental change. As our grantholders' work shows, community action can deliver both real impact and important co-benefits: improving health and wellbeing, strengthening community pride and supporting training and jobs.

We've seen how effective work at community scale can be, empowering at individual level but big enough to make a difference. It offers personal solutions to something that can seem intimidatingly large and abstract. Yet we've also seen that the work needs external support. Communities can lead and inspire behaviour change, but they still need the right infrastructure in place.

Nevertheless, our grantholders have shown the power of a positive story: both what we can achieve together and how it can make life better. Instead of fearful messaging, they've found that local, visible change encourages more people to take part, building ownership and driving wider behaviour change.

Disclaimer

This report tells personal stories of grantholders and staff and shares examples of what has worked well for others. Any views, thoughts or opinions expressed by grantholders and staff do not necessarily represent the views, thoughts or opinions of The National Lottery Community Fund ("the Fund"). The Fund does not endorse or recommend any organisation mentioned, nor does it endorse any external content linked to in this report.

The content of this report should not be taken as an instruction, guidance or advice and you should not rely on the information in this report as an alternative to professional advice.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Fund accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason whatsoever on the report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation amendment and/or modification by any third party is entirely at their own risk. We make no representations, warranties or guarantees, whether express or implied, that the content of this report is accurate, complete or up to date.

© Crown copyright 2020

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3/

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned. This publication is available at

gov.uk/government/publications

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at The National Lottery Community Fund, 1 Plough Place, London, EC4A 1DE, or you can email us at knowledge@tnlcommunityfund.org.uk

The Knowledge and Learning team at The National Lottery Community Fund share insights from the experience of our funding and the difference it makes. If you would like to tell us what you think of this report, or share relevant findings and learning, please email us at knowledge@tnlcommunityfund.org.uk

Key contacts: Zoë Anderson and Julia Parnaby

The National Lottery Community Fund, Version 1. Published: September 2020.

Reference: KL20-02

References

- Le Quéré, C., Jackson, R.B., Jones, M.W. et al. Temporary reduction in daily global CO2 emissions during the COVID-19 forced confinement. Nat. Clim. Chang. (2020). Available at: doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0797-x [accessed 29 June 2020]
- 2 Royal Society for the encouragement of Arts, Manufactures and Commerce (2020). "Brits see cleaner air, stronger social bonds and changing food habits amid lockdown", RSA, 17 Apr 2020 [online]. Available at: thersa.org/about-us/media/2019/brits-see-cleaner-air-stronger-social-bonds-and-changing-food-habits-amid-lockdown [accessed 22 May 2020]
- Barasi, L. (2019). "Guest post: Polls reveal surge in concern in UK about climate change", Carbon Brief, 10 May 2019. [online] Available at: carbonbrief.org/guest-post-rolls-reveal-surge-in-concern-in-uk-about-climate-change [accessed 06 Aug 2019]
- 4 Lawton, G. (2018). "Revealed: What the UK public really thinks about the future of science", New Scientist, 18 Sep 2018. [online] Available at: newscientist.com/article/2179920-revealed-what-the-uk-public-really-thinks-about-the-future-of-science/ [accessed 07 Aug 2019]
- National Lottery etc. Act 1993. [online] Available at: legislation.gov.uk/ ukpga/1993/39 [accessed 07 Aug 2019]. Other bodies distributing Lottery funding, including the present Heritage Lottery Fund, have also supported environmental projects.
- Bawden, Tom. "Green movement must escape its 'white, middle-class ghetto', says Friends of the Earth chief Craig Bennett." The Independent, 5 July 2015 [online] Available at: independent.co.uk/environment/green-movement-must-escape-its-white-middle-class-ghetto-says-friends-of-the-earth-chief-craig-10366564.html [accessed 29 June 2020]
- Big Lottery Fund (undated). Communities Living Sustainably [online] Available at: webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20171011162940/https://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/global-content/programmes/england/communities-living-sustainably [accessed 16 Jan 2020]
- 8 Create Your Space (undated). Woodland Routes to Wellbeing. [online] Available at: createyourspace.wales/project/woodland-routes-to-wellbeing/ [accessed 16 Jan 2020]
- 9 Johnston, J. (2018). "The glory of 24-hour power finally reaches Fair Isle", BBC News, 12 Oct 2018. [online] Available at: bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-45812273 [accessed 01 Jun 2020]
- 10 United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (2019). "Climate Justice", 31 May 2019. [online] Available at: un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2019/05/climatejustice/ [accessed 16 Sep 2019]
- 11 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2018). Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°. [online] Available at: ipcc.ch/sr15/ [accessed 12 Aug 2019]
- Miles, T. "Global temperatures on track for 3-5 degree rise by 2100: U.N.". Reuters, 29 Nov 2018 [online]. Available at: reuters.com/article/us-climate-change-un/global-temperatures-on-track-for-3-5-degree-rise-by-2100-u-n-idUSKCN1NY186 [accessed 07 Jun 2019]

- 13 Committee on Climate Change (2019). Progress in preparing for climate change, 2019 Report to Parliament. [online] Available at: theccc.org.uk/publication/progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/ [accessed 07 Aug 2019]
- 14 Schraer, R. (2019). "Climate change: Is Greta Thunberg right about UK carbon emissions?", BBC News, 26 April 2019 [online]. Available at: bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-48025650 [accessed 31 May 2019]
- 15 Evans, S. and Pearce, R. (2019). "How the UK transformed its electricity supply in just a decade", Carbon Brief, 12 Jun 2019 [online]. Available at: interactive.carbonbrief.org/how-uk-transformed-electricity-supply-decade/ [accessed 15 Aug 2019]
- 16 Climate Outreach (2019). Mainstreaming low-carbon lifestyles. [online] Available at: climateoutreach.org/resources/mainstreaming-low-carbon-lifestyles/ [accessed 13 Aug 2019]
- 17 Committee on Climate Change (2019). Net-zero The UK's contribution to stopping global warming. [online] Available at: theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming/ [accessed 13 Aug 2019]
- 18 Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2019). BEIS Public Attitudes Tracker: Wave 29, March 2019. [online] Available at: gov.uk/government/statistics/beis-public-attitudes-tracker-wave-29 [accessed 07 Aug 2019]
- 19 Y Dref Werdd (2019). Impact [online]. Available at: drefwerdd.cymru/en/the-impact/ [accessed 02 Oct 2019]
- 20 National Lottery Community Fund (2019). Dref Werdd Film [online] Available at: youtube.com/watch?v=gPfwYAdHFCl&feature=youtu.be [Accessed 29 Nov 2019]
- 21 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2015). Communities Living Sustainably Learning Report: Capturing Behaviour Change. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org. uk/insights/documents/communities-living-sustainably-learning-report-capturing-behaviour-change [Accessed 13 July 2020]
- 22 Mckenna, M., Manor House Development Trust (2016). Manor House Pact impact report 2013-2016 [online] Available at: issuu.com/sheermarq/docs/pact_final_report [accessed 22 July 2020]
- 23 EMS (undated). "Green Prosperity". [online] Available at: emsyorkshire.co.uk/services/green-prosperity/ [accessed 13 Sep 2019]
- Ansell, S. and Ayling, G. (2016). Community Energy: Community Approaches to Domestic Energy Efficiency, Energy Saving Trust. [Out of print].
- 25 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2015).
- 26 Leeds City Council (2019). Stronger Families Programme: Sustainable Development Policy. [Unpublished]
- 27 Renew Wales (2012). Renew Wales intro. [online] Available at: youtube.com/watch?v=l_6SxWFwNdo [accessed 26 Nov 2019]
- Wavehill Social and Economic Research (2017). Evaluation of the Renew Wales Programme 2016-2018 [online]. Available at: sway.com/s/kX3ZpwR0Vkw4pAki/embed [accessed 13 July 2020]
- 29 WRAP (2020). UK progress against Courtauld 2025 targets and UN Sustainable Development Goal 12.3. [online] Available at: wrap.org.uk/content/quantification-food-surplus-waste-and-related-materials-supply-chain [accessed 18 Feb 2020]

- The Soil Association [2001]. Organic food and farming: myth and reality [online] Available at: soilassociation.org/media/4939/policy_report_2001_myth_reality-1.pdf [accessed 13 July 2020]
- 31 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2014). Communities Living Sustainably Learning Report: Growing and Green Space [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund. org.uk/insights/documents?q=Growing+and+Green+Space.&programme=&portfolio= [accessed 13 July 2020]
- 32 Keep Scotland Beautiful (2012). Going Carbon Neutral Stirling: Modelling a new future for Scotland 2008-2012. [online] Available at: keepscotlandbeautiful.org/ media/180005/GCNSReport2012.pdf [accessed 12 Sep 2019]
- 33 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2014).
- 34 Middlesbrough Environment City (2019). "Middlesbrough Patchwork Orchard". [online] Available at: menvcity.org.uk/middlesbrough-patchwork-orchard/ [Accessed 02 Apr 2020]
- 35 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2014).
- 36 Hubbub (2018). Community Fridge Network November 2017-November 2018, Project Report [unpublished]
- 37 FareShare (undated). What We Do. [online] Available at: fareshare.org.uk/what-we-do/ [accessed 18 Feb 2020]
- FareShare (2019). Investing in our volunteers with the National Lottery Community Fund [online] Available at: fareshare.org.uk/news-media/news/investing-in-our-volunteers-with-the-national-lottery-community-fund/ [accessed 18 Feb 2020]
- 39 FareShare (2020) Almost 150 more businesses sign up to get their food to charities through COVID-19 pandemic [online] Available at: fareshare.org.uk/news-media/press-releases/almost-150-more-businesses-sign-up-to-get-their-food-to-charities-through-covid-19-pandemic/ [accessed: 06 July 2020]
- 40 Joe Dunne, Middlesbrough Environment City, 03 May 2019, interview.
- 41 Furniture plus (undated). About Us [online] Available at: furnitureplus.org.uk/aboutus. html [accessed 06 July 2020]
- 42 LaBrecque, S. and Gould, H. (2014). "Buying secondhand: an alternative to rampant consumerism of Black Friday", The Guardian, 28 Nov 2014. [online] Available at: theguardian.com/sustainable-business/2014/nov/28/buying-secondhand-an-alternative-to-rampant-consumerism-of-black-friday [accessed 18 Oct 2019]
- 43 Pernille Moeller, Forest Recycling Project, 09 Apr 2019, interview
- The Sunderland Black and Minority Ethnic Network Ltd (Undated). Sustainable Sunderland: End of project report [Unpublished]
- 45 Icarus (2014(i)). Access to Nature: inspiring people to engage with their natural environment. [online] Available at: publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/10508255 [accessed 15 Aug 2019]
- 46 Icarus (2014(i)).
- 47 Icarus (2014(ii)) Access to Nature: Creating the Legacy. [online] Available at: publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/10508255 [accessed: 23 Mar 2020]
- 48 Duxbury, Graham (2017) Looking for Leaders: Supporting communities to live more sustainably [online] Available at: groundwork.org.uk/about-groundwork/reports/looking-for-leaders/ [accessed 26 Mar 2020]
- 49 Duxbury, Graham (2017)

- Our Bright Future (2019) Our Bright Future heads to Westminster [online] Available at: ourbrightfuture.co.uk/2019/03/13/our-bright-future-heads-to-westminster/ [accessed 23 Mar 2020]
- 51 Our Bright Future (undated). Youth Forum [online] Available at: outh-forum/ [accessed 23 Mar 2020]
- 52 Our Bright Future (2019) Involving Young People in Organisational Governance: A Good practice guide [unpublished]
- Our Bright Future (2020) Our Bright Future devolved countries update October to December 2019 [unpublished report to the National Lottery Community Fund]
- Our Bright Future (2019). "What is Our Bright Future?" [online] Available at: ourbrightfuture.co.uk/ [accessed 13 Mar 2020]
- Forest Recycling Project (2019) Waltham Forest Foundations: End of Project Evaluation [unpublished]
- 56 Green Champions, Forest Recycling Project (undated). [online] Available at: frpuk.org/ community-work/green-champions/ [accessed 28 Nov 2019]
- 57 Granby 4 Streets CLT (undated). Greening Granby. [online] Available at: granby4streetsclt.co.uk/planting [accessed 28 Aug 2020]
- 58 Granby 4 Streets CLT (undated). Continuing with Green Granby. [online] Available at: granby4streetsclt.co.uk/new-page-1 [accessed 18 Jun 2019].
- 59 Cheryl Dixon, North Ormesby Big Local, 2 May 2019, interview.
- 60 Mavis Arnold, Alley Pals, Middlesbrough, 2 May 2019, interview
- What Works Centre for Wellbeing and Happy City (2019). Understanding Thriving Communities [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/insights/documents?q=Understanding+Thriving+Communities&programme=&portfolio=[accessed 17 March 2020]
- 62 Stewart, L. "Sam Thompson Bridge: Landmark structure providing a lifeline to communities", Belfast Telegraph, 05 Apr 2015. [online] Available at: belfasttelegraph. co.uk/news/northern-ireland/sam-thompson-bridge-landmark-structure-providing-a-lifeline-to-communities-31120178.html [accessed 17 Mar 2020]
- 63 Icarus (2014(i)).
- 64 Icarus (2014(i)).
- 65 Icarus (2014(i)).
- Icarus (2013). A Sense of Ownership: Fostering a change in the relationship between people and the natural environment". [online] Available at: publications. naturalengland.org.uk/publication/10382390?category=8871008 [accessed 17 Mar 2020]
- 67 Brymbo Heritage Project (2019). "Coming in 2023 'Brymbo: A 300 Million Year Story'". [online] Available at: brymboheritage.co.uk/plans/ [accessed 23 Sep 2019]
- 68 Andrew Brown, National Lottery Community Fund, 21 Mar 2019, telephone interview.
- 69 Brymbo Heritage Trust (2019).
- 70 World Health Organization (2017). Urban Green Space Interventions and Health: A review of impacts and effectiveness. [online]. Available at: euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2017/urban-green-space-interventions-and-health-a-review-of-impacts-and-effectiveness.-full-report-2017 [accessed 07 Jun 2019]

- 71 What Works Wellbeing and Happy City (2019).
- 72 Weston, P. (2019). "The rise of eco-anxiety and how to come to terms with climate change", The Independent, 22 Jun 2019. [online] Available at: independent.co.uk/environment/climate-change-extinction-eco-anxiety-ice-melting-sea-level-wildfire-a8968011.html [accessed 20 Nov 2019]
- 73 Fawbert, D. (2019). "'Eco-anxiety': How to spot it and what to do about it", BBC Three, 27 Mar 2019. [online] Available at: bbc.co.uk/bbcthree/article/b2e7ee32-ad28-4ec4-89aa-a8b8c98f95a5 [accessed 21 Nov 2019]
- 74 Vaughan, A. (201) "Greta Thunberg: Why I began the climate protests that are going global", New Scientist, 13 Mar 2019. [online] Available at: newscientist.com/article/mg24132213-400-greta-thunberg-why-i-began-the-climate-protests-that-are-going-global/ [accessed 20 Nov 2019]
- 75 Weston, P. (2019).
- Queally, J. (2018). "Depressed and Then Diagnosed With Autism, Greta Thunberg Explains Why Hope Cannot Save Planet But Bold Climate Action Still Can", Common Dreams, 19 Dec 2018. [online] available at: commondreams.org/news/2018/12/19/depressed-and-then-diagnosed-autism-greta-thunberg-explains-why-hope-cannot-save [accessed 20 Nov 2019]
- 77 Groundwork UK (undated). Our Place, Our Planet: Helping communities become champions of climate action. Communities Living Sustainably Programme Report [online]. Available at: groundwork.org.uk/about-groundwork/reports/our-place-our-planet/ [accessed 4 March 2020]
- 78 Groundwork UK (undated). Our Place, Our Planet.
- 79 Our Bright Future (undated). Our impact [online] Available at: ourbrightfuture.co.uk/about/our-impact/ [accessed 4 Mar 2020]
- Hudson, Heulwen; Smith, Mair; White, Owen; Vittle, Kate; Haswell-Walls, Fran and Cotton, Izzy (2019). Our Bright Future: Mid-Term Evaluation [online] Available at: ourbrightfuture.co.uk/about/our-impact/ [accessed 4 Mar 2020]
- 81 ERS Ltd and Collingwood Environmental Planning (2019) Summary of Findings: Outcomes Flower Questionnaire: February 2019 [online] Available at: ourbrightfuture. co.uk/about/our-impact/ [accessed 4 Mar 2020]
- 82 Hudson, Heulwen et. al. (2019).
- 83 Ibrahim D, Middlesbrough Environment City project visit, 2 May 2019, interview.
- 84 Grow Wild (undated). Our scale and impact [online]. Available at: growwilduk.com/why-grow-wild/our-scale-and-impact [accessed 3 Mar 2020]
- Y Dref Werdd (undated). [online] Available at: drefwerdd.cymru/en/home/ [accessed 25 Nov 2019]
- 86 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2015).
- 87 Lyndhurst, B., and Ecometrica (2011). Review of the Climate Challenge Fund [online]. Available at: webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20170401151519/gov.scot/Publications/2011/06/28142552/0 [accessed 25 Nov 2019]
- 88 Lyndhurst, B., and Ecometrica (2011).

39

89 Bonneau, Anne-Marie (2019). "How to Cope with Environmental Guilt Syndrome (EGS)", Zero-Waste Chef, 14 Feb 2019. [online] Available at: zerowastechef. com/2019/02/14/how-to-cope-with-environmental-guilt-syndrome-egs/ [accessed 9 Mar 2020]

- 90 Behavioural Insights Team (2014). EAST: Four Simple Ways to Apply Behavioural Insights. [online] Available at: bi.team/publications/east-four-simple-ways-to-apply-behavioural-insights/ [accessed 18 Nov 2019]
- 91 Behavioural Insights Team (2014).
- 92 Schultz, P. W., Nolan, J. M., Cialdini, R. B., Goldstein, N. J. & Griskevicius, V. (2007). The constructive, deconstructive and reconstructive power of social norms. Psychological Science, 18(5), 429-434. Available at: doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01917.x [accessed 19 Nov 2019]
- Oialdini, R. B. (2003). Crafting normative messages to protect the environment. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 12(4), 105-109.[online] Available at: journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1467-8721.01242?related-urls=yes&cited-by=yes%3B12%2F4%2F105&cited-by=yes&legid=spcdp%3B12%2F4%2F105&journalCode=cdpa [accessed 19 Nov 2019]
- 94 Schultz, et.al. (2007)
- 95 Climate Outreach (2019).
- 96 Keep Scotland Beautiful (2012).
- 97 Keep Scotland Beautiful (2012).
- 98 Pernille Moeller, Forest Recycling Project, 09 April 2019, interview
- 99 Forest Recycling Project (undated) Reclaiming Paint [online] frpuk.org/reclaiming-paint/ [accessed 7 July 2020]
- 100 Creamer, E. (2019). Climate Challenge Fund Review 2019. Literature Review Findings [online] Available at: gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/research-and-analysis/2019/11/climate-challenge-fund-review-2019-literature-review-findings/documents/climate-challenge-fund-review-2019-literature-review/climate-challenge-fund-review-2019-literature-review/govscot%3Adocument/CCF%2BLiterature%2BReview.pdf [accessed 13 July 2020]
- 101 Lyndhurst, B., and Ecometrica (2011).
- 102 Groundwork UK Learning Partnership (2015).
- 103 Climate Outreach (2019).
- 104 Keep Scotland Beautiful (2012).
- 105 Cox, E. and Button, D., New Economics Foundation (2016(i)). Influencing people through peer groups: Case Study 1 [online] Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org. uk/insights/documents/case-study-1-influencing-people-through-peer-groups [accessed 28 Nov 2019]
- 106 Cox, E. and Button, D., New Economics Foundation (2016(i))
- 107 SCCAN Community Interest Company (2017) Fife Communities Climate Action Network, End of grant report (unpublished)
- 108 Pearce, B., Martyres, R., Manor House Development Trust (2015). Manor House PACT Year 2 Interim learning report May 2015 [online] Available at: tnlcommunityfund. org.uk/insights/documents/manor-house-pact-year-2-interim-learning-report?tag=schools&sort=score [accessed 28 Nov 2019]
- 109 Duffryn Community Link (2018). Woodland Routes to Wellbeing. Year 1 Report. [Unpublished]
- 110 Rebecca Blanche (2019). National Lottery Community Fund, email 12 Sept 2019.

- 111 Ford, C. (2016). Sustainable Sunderland. Community Led Research Project Report. [Unpublished]
- 112 Cox, E., and Button, D. (2016). New Economics Foundation. Encouraging sustainable behaviour through working with schools: Case Study 2 [online] Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/insights/documents/encouraging-sustainable-behaviours-through-working-with-schools-case-study-2 [accessed 22 July 2020]
- 113 Pearce, B., Martyres, R. (2015).
- 114 Clarke, Ann (2016). Federation of City Farms and Community Gardens. An Evaluation of Growing Resilience: Community gardens, community resilience and social capital [online] Available at: farmgarden.org.uk/sites/farmgarden.org.uk/files/draft_evaluation_report.docx [accessed 27 July 2020]
- 115 The Sunderland Black and Minority Ethnic Network Ltd (Undated)
- 116 Pearce, B., Martyres, R. (2015).
- 117 Pearce, B., Martyres, R. (2015).
- 118 Pearce, B., Martyres, R. (2015)
- 119 Keep Scotland Beautiful (2012)
- 120 Mark Fishpool, Middlesbrough Environment City, 3 May 2019, interview.
- 121 Centre for Sustainable Energy on behalf of the Energy Saving Trust (2009). Best Practice review of community action on climate change, Final Report May 2009 [online]. Available at cse.org.uk/projects/view/1108 [accessed 22 July 2020].
- 122 Simpson, S.J. (2017). Living the Green Way: Evaluation Report. [online] Available at: connswatergreenway.co.uk/reports [accessed 20 Nov 2019]
- 123 Simpson, S.J. (2017).
- 124 Y Dref Werdd (2019). Dref Werdd Film [online]. Available at: youtu.be/gPfwYAdHFCI [accessed 04 Oct 2019]
- 125 Preston, I., White, V., Lloyd-Price, L. and Anderson, W. (2009). Centre for Sustainable Energy: Best practice review of community action on climate change. [online] Available at: cse.org.uk/projects/view/1108 [accessed 18 Oct 2019]
- 126 Creamer, E. (2019).
- 127 Dorset Community Energy (undated). "About Dorset Community Energy" [online]. Available at: dorsetcommunityenergy.org.uk/about/ [accessed 25 Sep 2019]
- 128 Communities Living Sustainably (2016). Learning Guide #4: How to join the community energy movement [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/insights/documents?q=How+to+join+the+community+energy+movement [accessed 22 July 2020]
- 129 McLoughlin, N., Corner, A., Whitmarsh, L., Capstick, S. and Nash, N. (2019). Mainstreaming low-carbon lifestyles. [online] Available at: climateoutreach.org/resources/mainstreaming-low-carbon-lifestyles/ [accessed 04 Oct 2019]
- 130 Vaughan, A. (2018) "UK home solar power faces cloudy outlook as subsidies are axed", The Guardian, 27 Jun 2018. [online] Available at: theguardian.com/environment/2018/jun/27/uk-home-solar-power-subsidies-costs-battery-technology [accessed 09 Oct 2019]
- 131 McLoughlin, N., et. Al. (2019).

- 132 Logan, C. (2018). National Lottery Community Fund Scotland. How to go greener (and save money). [online] Available at: bigblogscotland.org.uk/2018/01/26/how-to-go-greener-and-save-money/ [accessed 19 Mar 2020]
- 133 Birch, T. (2019). National Lottery Community Fund. Environmental Sustainable Development: Brief examples from BBO grant holders and their partnerships, across England 2016-present. [Unpublished].
- 134 Logan, C. (2018).
- 135 Birch, T. (2019).
- 136 Bright Green Business (208) Big Lottery Support Programme Year Three: End of Year Report, 2017-2018 [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/Big-Lottery-FundYear-3-UPDATED-VERSION.pdf?mtime=20200108154519&focal=none [accessed 23 Mar 2020]
- 137 Fellows, J. (2015). National Lottery Community Fund Scotland. Supporting grantholders to promote our environment [online]. Available at: bigblogscotland.org. uk/2015/05/13/supporting-grantholders-to-promote-our-environment/ [accessed 12 Mar 2020]
- 138 Rolland, L. (2016). "Furniture Plus improving environmental performance", Big Blog Scotland, 28 Apr 2016. bigblogscotland.org.uk/2016/04/28/furniture-plus-improving-environmental-performance/ [accessed 19 Mar 2020]
- 139 Mark Baine, Green Champion, The National Lottery Community Fund, 8 Mar 2019, interview.
- 140 Bristol Green Capital Partnership (2018). "Green & Black Ambassadors moving Bristol towards a more diverse environmental sustainability community". [online] Available at: bristolgreencapital.org/green-black-ambassadors-report-bristol-diverse-environmental-sustainability/ [accessed 07 Jun 2019]
- 141 McKenzie, Z., Keibuah-Foley, J. and Pancost, R. (2017). "Green & Black Ambassadors", NERC, 17 July 2017 [online]. Available at: nerc.ukri.org/planetearth/stories/1864/ [accessed 06 Jun 2019]
- 142 Jasmine Ketibuah-Foley, Green & Black Ambassadors, 22 Apr 2019, telephone interview.
- 143 Green & Black Ambassadors Pilot Project Report (2018). [online]. Available at: bristolgreencapital.org/green-black-ambassadors-report-bristol-diverse-environmental-sustainability/ [accessed 07 Jun 2019]
- 144 Banister, D. (2018). "Heathrow's third runway is expensive, polluting and unequal why the poor will lose out". The Conversation, 25 Jun 2018. [online] Available at: theconversation.com/heathrows-third-runway-is-expensive-polluting-and-unequal-why-the-poor-will-lose-out-98781 [accessed 14 Aug 2019]
- 145 Ynysybwl Regeneration Partnership (2018). The Vision for our Valley: End of Foundation Year Report (01/08/17 to 31/07/18). [Unpublished].
- 146 Vision for our Valley, Ynysybwl, End of Foundation Year Report.
- 147 The Sunderland Black and Minority Ethnic Network Ltd (Undated).
- 148 Mark Fishpool, Middlesbrough Environment City, 3 May 2019, interview.
- 149 Pepper, P. "I rely on plastic straws and baby wipes. I'm disabled I have no choice". The Guardian, 9 Jul 2018. Available at: theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/jul/09/disabled-person-plastic-straws-baby-wipes [Accessed 25 Apr 2019]

- 150 Cox, E. and Button, D., New Economics Foundation (2016(ii)). Encouraging Sustainable Behaviours Through Working with Schools: Case Study 2.)[Out of print]
- 151 Cox, E. and Button, D., New Economics Foundation (2016(ii)).
- 152 Cox, E. and Button, D., New Economics Foundation (2016(ii)).
- 153 Rebecca Blanche, National Lottery Community Fund, 12 Sept 2019, email.
- 154 Cox. E. and Button, D. (2016(ii)).
- 155 Mckenna, M., Manor House Development Trust (2016).
- 156 Mark Fishpool, Middlesbrough Environment City,3 May 2019, interview.
- 157 Greg Dickson and Pernille Moeller, Forest Recycling Project, 09 Apr 2019, interview.
- 158 Keep Scotland Beautiful (2016). Understanding Community Legacies: Community Action on Climate Change. Case Study: Going Carbon Neutral Stirling [online]. Available at: keepscotlandbeautiful.org/media/1561180/stirling-climate-change-report-final-251016-lowres.pdf [accessed: 22 July 2020]